**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI**

**JONATHAN P. O'BRIANT**

**APPELLANT**

**VS.**

**CAUSE NO. 2011-CA-00732**

**OLIVIA A. O'BRIANT**

**APPELLEE**

---

**ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF  
MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI**

**BRIEF FOR APPELLANT**

---

*Oral Argument Not Requested*

**SUBMITTED BY:**

JEFFREY B. RIMES (MSB # [REDACTED])  
JENNA L. BAILEY (MSB # [REDACTED])  
TAGGART, RIMES & USRY, PLLC  
1022 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 101  
Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157  
Telephone: (601) 898-8400  
Facsimile: (601) 898-8420  
*Counsel for Jonathan P. O'Briant*

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI**

**JONATHAN P. O'BRIANT**

**APPELLANT**

**VS.**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the Chancery Court erred in its application of the *Albright* factors in awarding custody of the minor child to Olivia O'Briant.
- II. Whether the Chancery Court erred in not granting Jonathan O'Briant's Motion for Rehearing and To Alter and Amend Judgment, Supplemental Motion for Rehearing and to Alter and Amend Judgment, and Second Supplemental Motion for Rehearing and to Alter and Amend Judgment.

## STATEMENT OF CASE

### **A. Procedural History**

Jonathan O'Briant ("Jonathan") filed a Petition for Divorce and Other Relief against Olivia O'Briant ("Olivia") in the Chancery Court of Madison County on August 28, 2009. Olivia obtained a Temporary Restraining Order against Jonathan in Texas on August 21, 2009. Subsequently, Jonathan petitioned and was granted an Emergency Temporary Restraining Order by the Chancery Court on September 1, 2009. Such Order granted Jonathan sole physical and legal custody of the minor child namely, Maguire O'Briant ("Maguire") because Olivia had wrongfully taken the child out of state and refused to bring him back. (R.E. 4). The Texas action was later dismissed and the parties entered into an Agreed Preliminary Injunction on September 10, 2009, which alternated custody of Maguire until the temporary hearing held on October 15, 2009. At the temporary hearing, the Chancery Court awarded Jonathan temporary sole physical and legal custody of Maguire subject to the visitation of Olivia. The case was set for a two-day trial on the merits beginning on August 31, 2010. At the commencing of the trial before Chancellor Brewer of the Madison County Chancery Court, the parties entered a Joint Consent to Divorce on the Grounds of Irreconcilable Differences and to Trial of Contested Issues on August 31, 2010.

On October 15, 2010, the Chancery Court of Madison County entered its Opinion and Final Judgment, whereby the parties herein were granted a divorce and Olivia was awarded sole physical custody of the minor child subject to Jonathan's visitation. (R.E. 12). In addition, the parties were awarded joint legal custody of the minor child and

Jonathan was ordered to pay unto Olivia monthly child support in the amount of two hundred and fifty dollars (\$250.00). (R.E. 13).

On October 25, 2010, Jonathan filed his Motion for Rehearing and to Alter and Amend Judgment requesting the Chancery Court to reconsider its application of the *Albright* factors and award of sole physical custody to Olivia. (R.E. 14). On January 31, 2011, Jonathan filed his Supplemental Motion for Rehearing and to Alter and Amend Judgment based on newly discovered evidence not previously available at trial. (R.E. 27). On April 28, 2011, Jonathan filed his Second Supplemental Motion for Rehearing and to Alter and Amend Judgment. Olivia did not respond to either motion. (R.E. 35). Said Motions were heard by the Chancery Court on March 23, 2011. On May 20, 2011, the Chancellor issued an Order Denying Jonathan's Motion for Rehearing and to Alter and Amend Judgment and Supplemental Motion for Rehearing and to Alter and Amend Judgment without providing any basis for the Chancery Court's denial. (R.E. 41). On May 25, 2011, Jonathan timely filed his Notice of Appeal to this honorable Court. (R.E. 42).

### **B. Statement of Facts**

Jonathan and Olivia O'Briant were married on August 13, 2004. (R.E. 3). One child was born of this marriage namely, Maguire, born June 23, 2007. (R.E. 3). Maguire was born extremely premature, and therefore, continues to have significant medical concerns. (R.E. 3, 5). Jonathan, Olivia and Maguire moved into the marital home, owned by Jonathan's mother, Ann Necaise ("Ann"), located in Ridgeland, Mississippi. (R.E. 3). Ann resided in the home next door with her mother. On or about August 14, 2009, Olivia left the marital home with Maguire to move in with her parents, Bob and

Alison Piantanida, in Whitehouse, Texas. (R.E. 3). Olivia obtained a temporary restraining order against Jonathan on August 21, 2009 in Texas, which was later dismissed. Jonathan moved for an Emergency Temporary Restraining Order in the Chancery Court of Madison County because Olivia wrongfully took Maguire to Texas and refused to bring him back, and thus, was granted sole physical and legal custody of Maguire. (R.E. 4). Jonathan maintained sole custody of Maguire until Olivia was awarded sole physical custody on October 15, 2010 by the Chancery Court. (R.E. 12). Jonathan perfected his appeal to this honorable Court aggrieved by the Chancery Court's award of custody to Olivia and denial of his subsequent motions requesting reconsideration its decision and a rehearing based on newly discovered evidence not previously available at the trial. (R.E. 14, 27, 35, 41).

Jonathan continues his employment with the Department of Rehabilitation Services as a Disability Determination Specialist and currently resides in the former marital home. Olivia works as a bank teller at Southside Bank in Tyler, Texas and resides with her parents in Whitehouse, Texas.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal stems from a ruling by the Chancery Court of Madison County awarding Olivia sole physical custody of Maguire subject to Jonathan's visitation. (R.E. 12). This Chancery Court's decision was not appealed because Jonathan disagreed with the conclusion of the evidence, but because the Chancery Court (i) drew a conclusion without real evidence supporting her determination; (ii) applied an erroneous legal standard during its analysis of the *Albright* factors recasting the *Albright* factors; and (iii) denied Jonathan's requests for rehearing to present newly discovered evidence in the best interest of the child.

As discussed below, the Chancery Court did not properly consider the evidence presented with regard to the *Albright* factors concerning the stability of the home environment and employment of each parent; the continuity of care; parenting skills; the willingness and capacity to provide primary child care; and physical and mental health of each parent. Not only did the chancellor apply an erroneous legal standard, but she reached the ultimate custody decision that is not supported by the record of evidence. Thus, the Chancery Court abused her discretion by stripping away Jonathan's custody of Maguire without substantial evidence supporting its award of custody to Olivia.

Moreover, the Chancery Court also erred in denying Jonathan's request for rehearing and to alter and amend the judgment to reconsider its misapplication of the *Albright* factors and conclusion unsupported by the record, as well as present newly discovered evidence. (R.E. 41). This newly discovered evidence concerned Olivia's reckless disregard to meet the medical needs of the child, unwillingness to co-parent

and intentional interference with his pursuit of a nurturing, healthy relationship with Maguire, which was not available at trial and is material to the Chancery Court's custody determination of what is in the best interest of the child. (R.E 27-40); *Sellers v. Sellers*, 638 So. 2d 481, 485 (Miss. 1994). The Chancery Court prohibited Jonathan from presenting newly discovered evidence regarding Olivia's failure to properly care for the minor child, and thus ignored its duty to do what is in the best interest of the child.

In pertinent part, Rule 59(a)(2) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a chancellor may “open the judgment if one has been entered, take additional testimony, amend findings of fact and conclusions of law or make new findings of fact and conclusions, and direct the entry of a new judgment.” A new trial may be granted if the following requirements are met: (1) the evidence is discovered following the trial; (2) due diligence on the part of the movant to discover the new evidence is shown or may be inferred; (3) the evidence is material and not cumulative or impeaching; and lastly (4) the evidence is such that a new trial would probably produce a new result. *Wade v. Wade*, 967 So. 2d 682, 684 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). This Court should find that the Chancery Court abused her discretion because Jonathan has met all the required elements necessary for a new trial and can prove that the evidence was discovered following the trial; that he used due diligence to discover such new evidence; that the evidence is material to the Chancery Court’s ultimate custody decision; and that if presented, a new trial would produce a new result.

Ultimately, the Chancery Court was given ample opportunity to correct its improper conclusion and erroneous application of the *Albright* factors and decline to allow newly discovered evidence not available at the hearing to be presented, but it

failed to do so without any explanation for its denial. (R.E. 41). Previously, Mississippi courts have held that where a chancellor provides no explanation for denial of the requested relief, the case should be remanded for an explanation of such denial. See *Chroniger v. Chroniger*, 914 So. 2d 311, 316 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). For the reasons stated herein, this Court should find that the chancellor committed reversible error and remand this case to the Chancery Court for a new trial, where a new analysis of the *Albright* factors using the appropriate legal standard shall take place.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Standard of Review.**

The standard of review for domestic matters is abuse of discretion. Thus this Court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor when supported by substantial evidence unless the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied. *Taylor v. Taylor*, 909 So. 2d 1280, 1281 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). As stated in *Hollon v. Hollon*, “where the chancellor improperly considers and applies the *Albright* factors, an appellate court is obliged to find the chancellor in error.” 784 So. 2d 943, 946 (Miss. 2001). Further, this Court should also apply the standard of abuse of discretion when reviewing a “chancellor’s denial of a motion to reconsider or a motion for a new trial.” *See Wade*, 967 So. 2d at 684. In the present case, because the chancellor erroneously applied the *Albright* factors, was manifestly wrong in her conclusion, and erred in denying Jonathan’s motion for rehearing, this Court should apply the abuse of discretion standard of review.

### **II. The Chancery Court erroneously applied the *Albright* factors and reached a conclusion not supported by the record of evidence presented and thus, erred in awarding custody of the minor child to Olivia.**

“In all child custody cases, the polestar consideration is the best interest of the child.” *Sellers*, 638 So. 2d at 485. “The *Albright* factors, used to determine child custody based on the best interest of the child, include: 1) age, health and sex of the child; 2) determination of the parent that had the continuity of care prior to the separation; 3) which has the best parenting skills and which has the willingness and capacity to provide primary child care; 4) the employment of the parent and responsibilities of that employment; 5 ) age, physical and mental health and age of the parents; 6) emotional ties of parent and child; 7) moral fitness of parents; 8) the home, school and community

record of the child; 9) the preference of the child at the age sufficient to express a preference by law; 10) stability of home environment and employment of each parent; and 11) other factors relevant to the parent-child relationship.” *Sellers*, 638 So. 2d at 485; *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So. 2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983).

In determining whether the chancellor improperly applied the *Albright* factors, all testimony and evidence presented at trial under each factor should be reviewed. *See Watts v. Watts*, 854 So. 2d 11, 13 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). In this case, the Chancery Court misapplied the *Albright* factors regarding the stability of the home environment and employment of each parent; the continuity of care; parenting skills; the willingness and capacity to provide primary child care; and physical and mental health of each parent, and reached a conclusion that is not supported by the record of evidence. Due to the Chancery Court’s improper consideration of the evidence actually presented in this case and subsequent erroneous application of the *Albright* factors, this Court should find that the chancellor committed reversible error and remand this case to Chancery Court for a new trial, where the Chancery Court shall conduct a proper analysis of the *Albright* factors. *Hollon*, 784 So. 2d at 946. As such a discussion of these factors is stated below.

***A. Stability of the Home Environment and Employment of Each Parent***

The first instance of the Chancery Court’s application of an erroneous legal standard begins with its recasting of the stability of home environment and employment of each parent *Albright* factor into two separate factors. (R.E. 6, 8-9) The Chancery Court correctly found that Jonathan’s employment is more stable with his flexible schedule, lack of travel requirements and adequate compensation. (R.E. 6). However, when the Chancery Court analyzed the stability of the home environment separately, it

misapplied the *Albright factors*, which resulted in the wrong conclusion. *Sellers*, 638 So. 2d at 485. By removing “stability of home environment” out of *Albright’s* “stability of home environment and employment of each parent” factor and analyzing them separately, the Chancery Court scored such factor as favoring neither parent. By way of analogy, a baseball team gets three outs each inning. It is not appropriate to give a team four outs in one inning and only two in the next, even though six outs would have been received in two innings. The Chancery Court’s erroneous application of the *Albright factors* was raised in Jonathan’s request for rehearing and to alter and amend the Judgment, but the Chancery Court failed to correct its mistake. (R.E. 41). If the Chancery Court had properly applied the legal standard as enumerated in *Albright*, then this factor should have been found to favor Jonathan.<sup>1</sup>

Because the Chancery Court recast the *Albright factors*, in doing so, it also reached a wrong conclusion. In a recent unpublished case, the Mississippi Court of Appeals found that the evidence did not support the chancellor’s finding that the father’s home was more stable than the mother’s. *Smullins v. Smullins*, No. 2009-CA-00994-COA (¶ 32) (Miss. Ct. App. 2011). The Court found that there was no evidence in the record to show that the mother’s home was unstable. *Id.* Further, the Court found that the “chancellor’s reasoning on this point [was] not supported by the evidence.” *Id.*

In the present case, the record revealed that since the day Maguire was brought home from the hospital, Maguire lived in the martial home, where Jonathan still resides. (R.E. 8) Jonathan provides a stable home where Maguire feels comfortable and is surrounded by family, church, school, doctors and friends that care for Maguire. (R.E.

---

<sup>1</sup> Jonathan would show that the stability of home environment favors him, even if considered alone. Maguire lived with Jonathan at 7063 Edgewater Drive in Ridgeland, Mississippi since the day he came home from the hospital until the divorce. Olivia currently resides in Whitehouse, Texas with her parents.

8). Just as in *Smullins*, there is no evidence in the record of the present case to show that Jonathan does not provide a stable environment for the child. *Smullins*, No. 2009-CA-00994-COA at ¶ 32. Further, in Mississippi, numerous cases support the finding that the parent remaining in the marital home is a factor which weighs in favor of the stability of the home environment. *Woodham v. Woodham*, 17 So. 3d 153, 158 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). Thus, the Chancery Court used an erroneous legal standard when it recast two of the *Albright* factors in an unauthorized manner under Mississippi law, and reached an improper conclusion. See *Hollon*, 784 So. 2d at 946. Subsequent to Jonathan's request, the Chancery Court failed to address its misapplication as requested in Jonathan's timely Motion. (R.E. 15).

### ***B. Continuity of Care***

Further, the Chancery Court failed to consider the evidence actually presented and thus, drew a conclusion that is not supported by real evidence. In reaching its determination to award Olivia custody of Maguire, the Chancery Court heavily relied on the twin findings that Jonathan provided little of Maguire's care prior to the separation, and that after the separation, Jonathan's mother, Ann, provided most of Maguire's care. (R.E. 5). In addition, the Chancery Court concluded that prior to the separation, Jonathan primarily worked outside the home or pursued his studies for medical school. (R.E. 5). However, there is no evidence in the record to support these findings. Prior to the trial, Jonathan and Olivia spent approximately the same amount of time at home with Maguire as illustrated in the table described in Jonathan's Motion for Rehearing and to Alter and Amend Judgment. (R.E. 19). At trial, both parties testified that the other was significantly involved in Maguire's rearing, but each claimed to be the parent who primarily cared for Maguire. (Trial Tr. 73, 162). The Chancery Court's conclusion is

inconsistent with the testimony that Jonathan cooked for Maguire, bathed Maguire, changed his diapers and cared for his medical needs on a daily basis. (Trial Tr. 60-62, 273.) The Chancery Court inexplicably concluded that Jonathan “did assist with bathing and some doctor’s visits” in spite of Olivia’s testimony that Jonathan cared for Maguire’s daily needs. (R.E. 5) (Trial Tr. 241). Nevertheless, the Chancery Court’s judgment failed to find that Jonathan continuously cared for Maguire, even during the months while Olivia was enrolled in school. Therefore, the Chancery Court’s findings unambiguously conflict with the substantial weight of the evidence.

### ***C. Parenting Skills***

In Jonathan’s initial Motion for rehearing, he requested the Chancery Court to reconsider its inaccurate analysis of the parenting skills of both parties. (R.E. 14-26); *Sellers*, 638 So. 2d 481, 485 (Miss. 1994). In its opinion, the Chancery Court concluded that because Olivia had more time to develop her parenting skills prior to the separation and because Jonathan relied heavily on his mother as a caretaker since the separation, this factor favored Olivia. (R.E. 5-6). Again, the Chancery Court incorrectly concluded that Jonathan primarily worked outside the home or pursued his studies for medical school. (R.E. 5-6). This conclusion is inaccurate for two reasons. First, the Chancery Court ignored the substantial evidence in favor of Jonathan’s parenting skills. Testimony at trial revealed that Jonathan provided for the minor child’s needs on a daily basis and spent an equal amount of time with the minor child. (Trial Tr. 60-62). Jonathan’s mother only provided care to the minor child while Jonathan was away at work. (Trial Tr. 273).

Moreover, Mississippi courts have held that the presence of family is a reasonable consideration in analyzing the *Albright* factors. *Neville v. Neville*, 734 So. 2d 352, 355

(Miss. Ct. App. 1999); *see also Smullins*, No. 2009-CA-00994-COA at ¶ 35 (citing *Collins v. Collins*, 20 So. 3d 683, 690 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)). In *Neville*, the Court affirmed the chancellor's decision to award custody of the child to the mother because of the strong presence of family structure. 734 So. 2d at 355. Further, in *Neville*, the chancellor had also found that the presence of family would provide a measure of stability for the child. *Id.* However, in the present case, Jonathan was penalized for the presence of his mother, even though the chancellor acknowledged that in awarding Olivia custody, her family would be providing daily care to the child while Olivia was at work or school. (Trial Tr. 184). Further, the testimony presented illustrated that Jonathan is equipped with the parenting skills necessary to provide primary care to the minor child and is actively involved in his daily routine, such as feeding, bathing, changing, playing as well as caring for his medical needs. (Trial Tr. 60-62, 287). Just like the mother in *Neville*, Jonathan too has extended family that live nearby and "lend a measure of stability to the child's life." *Id.*

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