#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### CASE NO: 2011-CA-00732

JONATHAN P. O'BRIANT

VS.

OLIVIA A. O'BRIANT

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### **BRIEF FOR APPELLEE OLIVIA A. O'BRIANT**

MELISSA A. MALOUF, ESQ. MSB NOTIFICATION WILLIAM E. BALLARD, ESQ. MSB NOTIFICATION CASEY J. RODGERS, ESQ. MSB NOTIFICATION MALOUF & MALOUF 501 E. Capitol Street Jackson, MS 39201 Telephone: (601) 948-4320 Facsimile: (601) 948-4328

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This Court should affirm the chancellor's Opinion and Final Judgment and the denial of Jonathan's Motion for Rehearing and to Alter and Amend Judgment; Supplemental Motion for Rehearing and to Alter and Amend Judgment; and Second Supplemental Motion for Rehearing and to Alter and Amend Judgment. In his brief, Jonathan incorrectly argues that the chancellor misapplied the Albright factors; reached a conclusion not supported by the evidence; and erred in denying his motion for rehearing. However, the chancellor did, in fact, conduct a proper Albright analysis. Her judgment lists which factors favor Olivia, which factors favor Jonathan, and which factors are neutral. Jonathan further incorrectly argues that the chancellor misapplied the Albright factors are factors by "recasting" the "stability of home environment and employment of each parent Albright factor into two separate factors." Appellant's Brief at 12. The Court of Appeals, has affirmed Albright determinations where the court styled the Albright factors in the exact manner as the chancellor styled them in the instant case.

Further, the chancellor's *Albright* analysis and *Opinion and Final Judgment* was supported by substantial, credible evidence. In his brief, Jonathan incorrectly argues that the chancellor reached conclusions that were not supported by any real evidence. However, Jonathan ignores the substantial credible evidence Olivia presented at trial. Jonathan appears to take issue with the credibility determinations made by the chancellor, and this Court has routinely held that the chancellor, as trier of facts, is charged with determining the credibility of witnesses. Therefore, Jonathan's argument is without

merit.

Moreover, the chancellor properly denied Jonathan's post trial motion. His motion was based primarily on his alleged "newly discovered evidence." However, Jonathan fails to satisfy the four requirements that must be met before a new trial based on "newly discovered evidence" may be granted. The unsubstantiated allegations contained in his motion are not "newly discovered evidence." In fact, they are the same type of allegations that he has made from the outset of this litigation. Therefore, this Court should affirm the chancellor's *Opinion and Final Judgment* and the denial of Jonathan's motion for rehearing.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review

The Standard of Review in domestic relations cases is abuse of discretion. The Court of Appeals has held,

The standard of review employed by this Court in domestic relations cases is abundantly clear. Chancellors are vested with broad discretion, and this Court will not disturb the chancellor's findings unless the court's actions were manifestly wrong, the court abused its discretion, or the court applied erroneous legal standard.

Rodgers v. Taylor, 755 So. 2d 33, 36 (Miss. App. 2000). "The chancellor has the sole responsibility to determine the credibility of witnesses and evidence, and the weight to be given each." *Lee v. Lee*, 798 So. 2d 1284, 1288 (Miss. 2001).

Moreover, the chancellor's denial of Jonathan's motion for rehearing is reviewed

by this Court under an abuse of discretion standard. "A motion for reconsideration is treated as a motion to alter or amend judgment pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e)." *Wilburn v. Wilburn*, 991 So. 2d 1185, 1191 (Miss. 2008). "This Court reviews a trial court's denial of a Rule 59 motion under an abuse of discretion standard." *Brooks v. Roberts*, 882 So. 2d 229, 233 (Miss. 2004).

## II. The Chancellor properly applied the Albright factors in awarding custody of the parties minor child to Olivia.

In the instant case, the Chancellor properly applied the *Albright* factors in awarding custody of the parties' minor child to Olivia, and the record reveals that substantial evidence supports the chancellor's *Albright* analysis. Therefore, this Court should affirm the chancellor's order granting Olivia custody of Maguire.

Under Mississippi law, it is well settled that the polestar consideration in all child custody cases is the best interest of the child. *Sellers v. Sellers*, 638 So.2d 481, 484 (Miss. 1994) (*citing Albright v. Albright*, 437 So.2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983)). In *Albright*, this Court set forth the following factors which must be considered in determining child custody:

(1) age, health and sex of the child; (2) a determination of the parent that has had the continuity of care prior to the separation; (3) which has the best parenting skills and which has the willingness and capacity to provide primary child care; (4) the **employment of the parent and responsibilities of that employment;** (5) physical and mental health and age of the parents; (6) emotional ties of parent and child; (7) moral fitness of parents; (8) the home, school and community record of the child;(9) the preference of the child at the age sufficient to express a preference by law; (10) stability of home environment and employment of each parent; (11) and other factors relevant to the parent-child relationship." Albright at 1005. (emphasis added).

In the instant case, the *Opinion and Final Judgment* entered by the chancellor makes clear that the *Albright* factors were properly considered and applied when determining custody. The judgment lists which factors favor Olivia; which factors favor Jonathan; and which factors were neutral. Jonathan's argument that the Chancellor misapplied the *Albright* factors is without merit. *Appellant's Brief* at 12. The Court of Appeals has stated,

In *Smith v. Smith*, 614 So. 2d 394, 397 (Miss. 1993), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that if the chancellor properly considered and applied the Albright factors when making the child-custody determination, the appellate court 'cannot say [the chancellor] was manifestly wrong' in his determination.

*Wilson v. Wilson*, 53 So.3d 865, 868 (Miss. App. 2011). In reality, it appears that Jonathan's real qualm is with the credibility determinations made by the chancellor at trial. The majority of Jonathan's argument hinges on the credibility of he and his mother's testimony, and fails to acknowledge what evidence the chancellor did or did not find credible.

In the instant case, the record contains substantial evidence supporting the chancellor's order granting sole physical custody of Maguire to Olivia. Therefore, this Court should affirm the chancellor's decision.

A. The chancellor did not abuse her discretion in her analysis of the "Employment Responsibilities and Stability of Employment" factor and the "Stability of Home Environment" factor.

In his brief, Jonathan argues that the chancellor misapplied the *Albright* factors "with its recasting of the stability of home environment and employment of each parent *Albright* factor into two separate factors." *Appellant's Brief* at 12. However, Jonathan fails to cite any authority supporting same, and his argument is without merit. In *Curry v. McDaniel*, 37 So. 3d 1225,1236 (Miss. App. 2010), the trial court analyzed the "stability of home environment" and the "stability of employment" factors separately, and the Court of Appeals affirmed the decision. *See also Woodham v. Woodham*, 17 So. 3d 153, 158 (Miss. App. 2009) (affirming the chancellor's decision analyzing the "stability of home environment" and "stability of employment" factors separately). Furthermore, Miss. R. App. P. 28(a)(6) requires that arguments advanced on appeal contain citations to legal authority. Therefore, Jonathan's argument is procedurally barred for failing to comply with said rules. *See Sandlin v. Sandlin*, 906 So.2d 39, 42 (Miss. App. 2004).

In the instant case, the chancellor's *Opinion and Final Judgment* merely styled the fourth *Albright* factor as **"Employment Responsibilities and Stability of Employment,"** and the tenth *Albright* factor as the **"Stability of Home Environment."** The chancellor found the fourth factor favored Jonathan and the tenth factor favored neither party. The Court of Appeals has affirmed *Albright* determinations where the fourth and tenth *Albright* factors were styled in the exact same manner as the learned chancellor styled them in the instant case. *See Benal v. Benal*, 22 So.3d 369, 375-76 (Miss. App. 2009) and *Phillips v. Phillips*, 45 So. 3d 684, 693 (Miss. App. 2010); *See also, M.H. v. D.A., et. al.*, 17 So. 3d 610, 618 (Miss. App. 2009) and *Jones v. Jones*, 19

So. 3d 775, 779 (Miss. App. 2009) (chancellor styled and analyzed the tenth *Albright* factor as "stability of home environment," and the Court affirmed the decision).

Moreover, the "baseball" analogy and *Albright* factor scoring system advanced in Jonathan's brief is not supported by this Court's longstanding legal precedent.

Appellant's Brief at 13. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals has specifically rejected

this argument. In Rodgers v. Taylor, 755 So. 2d 33, 37 (Miss. App. 2000), the Court of

Appeals stated,

[W]e find inappropriate the chancellor's convoluted effort to weigh the Albright factors by assigning random values to each factor for Karen and Rodney and **basing his decision on a total score of the numbers**. We find this troubling and riddled with danger of inconsistent application of these important factors. Child custody matters are of too grave importance to rely on the random nature inherent in such a scoring system. (emphasis added)

This Court has made it clear that "[w]hile the *Albright* factors are extremely helpful in navigating what is usually a labyrinth of interests and emotions, they are certainly not the equivalent of a mathematical formula." *Mabus v.* Mabus, 890 So.2d 806, 816 (Miss. 2003) (*quoting Lee v. Lee*, 798 So.2d 1284, 1288 (Miss. 2001)). "[*A*]*lbright* was not meant to supplant those principles found in equity with any type of rigid mathematical formula. *Curry v. McDaniel*, 37 So. 3d 1225, 1234 (Miss. App. 2010).

In his brief, Jonathan further argues that "there is no evidence in the record of the present case to show that Jonathan does not provide a stable environment for the child." *Appellant's Brief* at 14. However, the chancellor never found that "Jonathan does not provide a stable environment for the child." Clearly, the chancellor found that both

parties could provide a stable home environment for Maguire inasmuch as she found this factor to be neutral. (R. 162). Additionally, the chancellor's neutral determination of this factor was supported by the testimony that both Olivia and Jonathan depend heavily on their extended families for support. (R. 161-162). The Court of Appeals has held that the strong presence of extended family weighs in favor of the 'stability of home environment' factor. *Neville v. Neville*, 734 So.2d 352, 355 (Miss. App. 1999). In the present case, Olivia lives at home with her parents in the town where she grew up. (Tr. 176) She is surrounded by her parents, sisters, and grandmother. (Tr. 176). Likewise, Jonathan lives next door to his mother and grandmother in a home owned by his mother. (Tr. 16-17). Given the testimony at trial, the chancellor did not abuse her discretion by finding that the "stability of home environment" factor is neutral.

#### B. Substantial evidence supports the chancellor's finding that the "continuity of care prior to the separation" factor favors Olivia.

In her *Albright* analysis, the chancellor found that while Jonathan did assist with bathing and some doctor visits, Olivia was Maguire's primary care giver prior to the separation. (R. 158; Tr. 324). The chancellor's determination was supported by the testimony that, prior to the separation, Olivia had been a stay-at-home mother charged with the daily care of Maguire. (R. 158). The chancellor properly exercised her discretion in determining the credibility of the witnesses, and her conclusion was supported by substantial evidence in the record.

Olivia testified she and Jonathan had decided that instead of working, it would be

better if she stayed at home to care for Maguire. (Tr. 161, 261). As a stay-at-home mother, Olivia woke Maguire up in the mornings, prepared his meals, brushed his teeth, bathed him, and put him to bed. (*Id.*). Olivia was responsible for taking care of Maguire prior to the separation. (Tr. 162). Olivia's sister, Lindsey Long, testified that Olivia was Maguire's primary care giver, and that prior to the separation, Jonathan spent much of his time studying for the MCAT. (Tr. 324-325).

In his brief, Jonathan erroneously claims the chancellor's findings "unambiguously conflict with the substantial weight of the evidence." *Appellant's Brief* at 15. Although the chancellor's findings regarding the "continuity of care prior to the separation" conflict with Jonathan's testimony, they certainly do not conflict with Olivia's testimony. The chancellor is charged with determining the credibility of the witnesses at trial.

Jonathan further argues that "both parties testified that the other was significantly involved in Maguire's rearing." *Appellant's Brief* at 14. To the contrary, Olivia testified that she was Maguire's primary care giver prior to the separation. (R. 162). Additionally, Jonathan argues the chancellor erred in finding that "after the separation, Jonathan's mother, Ann, provided most of Maguire's care." *Appellant's Brief* at 14. However, the chancellor did not mention Jonathan's mother in her analysis of the "continuity of care" factor. (R. 158). While the chancellor was correct in her subsequent finding that Ann provided most of Maguire's care after the separation, that finding is irrelevant to the instant *Albright* Factor. The instant *Albright* factor concerns itself with the "continuity of

care prior to the separation" not after the separation.

# C. The chancellor correctly found that the "parenting skills" factor weighed in favor of Olivia.

There is substantial evidence in the record regarding Olivia's parenting skills, and the chancellor correctly found that the "parenting skills" factor weighed in favor of Olivia. Stephanie Holbrook testified that Olivia was a "great mom." (Tr. 146). However, regarding Mr. O'Briant's parenting skills, she testified that she rarely saw Jonathan "interacting with Maguire" because he was mainly in the back room playing World of Warcraft on the computer. (Tr. 147). She further testified that she has left her own children with Olivia on numerous occasions. (*Id.*). Additionally, Olivia's sister, Lindsey Long, testified that Olivia had cared for Mrs. Long's children "too many times to count," and that she has never seen Olivia do anything detrimental to Maguire. (Tr. 325).

Prior to the separation, Olivia was a stay-at-home mother and Maguire's primary care giver. (Tr. 161, 261). Based in part on this evidence, the chancellor found that Olivia had "significantly more time to develop her parenting skills." (R. 158). And this was a reasonable conclusion given Jonathan's testimony that prior to the separation he had worked and spent a great amount of time studying outside of the marital home. (Tr. 23, 79). Additionally, after the separation, Jonathan's mother was generally responsible for taking Maguire to doctor visits, taking him to and from daycare each day, and caring for him until Jonathan got home from work. (Tr. 18-19, 261-265, 291). The chancellor correctly found that Jonathan "relied heavily on his mother as a caretaker since the

separation" inasmuch as, during the trial of this matter, Maguire did not even have a toothbrush at Jonathan's house. (R. 159; Tr. 310-311). Maguire's toothbrush and medications were at Jonathan's mother's house. (Tr. 258-260, 310-311). Olivia further testified that Maguire is "always with his grandmother." (Tr. 240).

In his brief, Jonathan argues that the chancellor "ignored the substantial evidence in favor of Jonathan's parenting skills." *Appellant's Brief* at 15. In support of his argument, Jonathan relies solely on his own testimony as well as his mother's testimony. *Id.* at 15-16. Jonathan further fails to acknowledge the substantial evidence of his bad parenting skills. Olivia testified that in April 2009, she left Maguire with Jonathan so she could go to the library and study. (Tr. 202). When Olivia returned home, Jonathan was not at the house and Maguire was home alone. (*Id.*) Yet again, Jonathan makes clear that his real qualm is with the chancellor's credibility determinations. However, this Court has routinely held that "[t]he credibility of the witnesses and the weight of their testimony, as well as the interpretation of evidence where it is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation, are primarily for the chancellor as the trier of facts." *Johnson v. Gray*, 859 So.2d 1006, 1014 (Miss. 2003) (*citing Chamblee v. Chamblee*, 637 So.2d 850, 860 (Miss.1994)).

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